



LOCAL GOVERNMENT REGULATION OF MARIJUANA IN OREGON

REVISED AUGUST 2015



Published by the League of Oregon Cities

Table of Contents

Introduction and A Word of Caution	1
Home Rule in Oregon	2
Federal Law	3
An Overview of Oregon's Marijuana Laws	4
Oregon Medical Marijuana Act	4
Recreational Marijuana	5
Taxation of Recreational Marijuana	5
Early Sales of Recreational Marijuana	6
Local Government Options for Regulation of Marijuana	6
Registration and Licenses	7
Oregon's Seven Regulated Marijuana Activities	7
State Restrictions on the Location of Medical and Recreational Marijuana Activities	7
Medical Grow Sites and Recreational Producers	8
Medical Processing Sites and Recreational Processors	8
Medical Marijuana Dispensaries	8
Recreational Wholesalers and Retailers	9
Local Tax	9
Ban on Early Sales	10
Ban on State-Registered and Licensed Activities	10
Business License Ordinance	11
Development Code	12
Land Use Code	12
Time, Place and Manner Regulations	13
Appendix A: Early Sales Opt Out	15
Appendix B: Council Opt Out	18
Appendix C: Opt Out by Voter Referral	22
Appendix D: Local Tax by Voter Referral	29

Introduction and **A Word of Caution**

The League of Oregon Cities (League) has prepared this guide to assist cities in evaluating local needs and concerns regarding medical and recreational marijuana, so that city councils can find solutions that are in the best interests of their community. The League does not take a position on which choices a city council should make. The League's mission is to protect the home rule authority of cities to make local decisions and to assist city councils in implementing the decisions they make, whatever those decisions might be.

The League published the first edition of this guide in the spring of 2015. Its original focus was medical marijuana. In November 2014, Oregon voters adopted Measure 91, legalizing the growing, distribution, possession and use of marijuana in certain amounts for non-medical personal use. In 2015, the state Legislature made comprehensive reforms to Measure 91 and addressed issues of local control. Specifically, the Legislature adopted the following bills:

- HB 3400 (Or Laws 2015, ch 614), the omnibus bill that amends the Oregon Medical Marijuana Act (OMMA) and the Control and Regulation of Marijuana Act (also known as Measure 91, which the voters passed in November 2014 legalizing recreational marijuana use in Oregon);
- HB 2041 (Or Laws 2015, ch 699), which revises the state tax structure for recreational marijuana;
- SB 460 (Or Laws 2015, ch 784), which authorizes early sales of recreational marijuana by medical marijuana dispensaries; and
- SB 844 (awaiting governor's signature), which creates a marijuana task force, provides for expungement of certain offenses, adds a new qualifying debilitating medical condition, and allows certain hospice and residential facilities to be designated as an additional caregiver.

This guide is not a substitute for legal advice. City councils considering taxing, regulating or prohibiting marijuana facilities should not rely solely on this guide or the resources contained within it. Any city council considering any form of regulation of marijuana should consult with its city attorney regarding the advantages, disadvantages, risks and limitations of any given approach. Legal counsel can also assist a city in preparing an ordinance that is consistent with existing ordinances and with a city's charter, and advise on what process is needed to adopt the ordinance.

The law with regard to local government regulation of marijuana is complex because it involves the interplay of state and federal law, and the law continues to evolve. At press time, there were several court cases pending regarding the legal authority of local governments to regulate, up to and including prohibiting, the operation of medical marijuana facilities. The League will continue to update its members as the law in this area changes.

With those changes, the League has prepared this second edition of the guide, adding sections relating to the regulation of recreational marijuana. This guide begins by providing an overview of the source of local government authority—Oregon's constitutional home rule provisions. The guide then provides a brief explanation of the status of marijuana under federal law, as well as a summary of Oregon's marijuana laws, before turning to a discussion of local control and options available for local governments. The guide concludes with sample ordinances to use as a starting point if a city decides it wants to tax, regulate or prohibit marijuana facilities.

The sample ordinance provisions included in this guide are intended to be a starting point, not an ending point, for any jurisdiction considering taxing, regulating or prohibiting marijuana facilities.

Home Rule in Oregon

Any discussion of a city's options for regulating anything that is also regulated by state law must begin with a discussion of the home rule provisions of the Oregon Constitution from which cities derive their legal authority. Home rule is the power of a local government to set up its own system of governance and gives that local government the authority to adopt local ordinances without having to obtain permission from the state.

The concept of home rule stands in contrast to a corollary principle known as Dillon's Rule, which holds that municipal governments may engage only in activities expressly allowed by the state because municipal governments derive their authority and existence from the state. Under Dillon's Rule, if there is a reasonable doubt about whether a power has been conferred to a local government, then the power has not been conferred. Although many states follow Dillon's Rule, Oregon does not.

Instead, a city government in Oregon derives its home rule authority through the adoption of a home rule charter by the voters of that community pursuant to Article XI, section 2, of the Oregon Constitution, which was added in 1906 by the people's initiative. Article XI, section 2, provides, in part, that:

"The Legislative Assembly shall not enact, amend or repeal any charter or act of incorporation of any municipality, city or town. The legal voters of every city and town are hereby granted power to enact and amend their municipal charter, subject to the Constitution and criminal laws of the State of Oregon."

A home rule charter operates like a state constitution in that it vests all government power in the governing body of a municipality, except as expressly stated in that charter, or preempted by state or federal law. According to the League's records, all of Oregon's 242 incorporated cities have adopted home rule charters.

-

¹ See John F. Dillon, 1 The Law of Municipal Corporations § 9b, 93 (2d ed 1873).

The leading court case interpreting Oregon's home rule amendment is *La Grande/Astoria v*. *PERB*, 281 Or 137, 148-49, 576 P2d 1204, *aff'd on reh'g*, 284 Or 173, 586 P2d 765 (1978). In that case, the Oregon Supreme Court said that home rule municipalities have authority to enact substantive policies, even in an area also regulated by state statute, as long as the local enactment is not "incompatible" with state law, "either because both cannot operate concurrently or because the Legislature meant its law to be exclusive." In addition, the court said that where there is a local enactment and state enactment on the same subject, the courts should attempt to harmonize state statutes and local regulations whenever possible.²

In a subsequent case, the Oregon Supreme Court directed courts to presume that the state did not intend to displace a local ordinance in the absence of an apparent and unambiguous intent to do so.³ Along the same lines, a local ordinance can operate concurrently with state law even if the local ordinance imposes greater or different requirements than the state law.⁴

Where the Legislature's intent to preempt local governments is not express and where the local and state law can operate concurrently, there is no preemption. As such, the Oregon Supreme Court has concluded that generally a negative inference that can be drawn from a statute is insufficient to preempt a local government's home rule authority. For example, where legislation "authorizes" a local government to regulate in a particular manner, a court will not read into that legislation that the specific action authorized is to the exclusion of other regulatory alternatives, unless the Legislature makes it clear that the authorized regulatory form is to be the exclusive means of regulating.

Federal Law

Marijuana remains a Schedule I controlled substance under the federal Controlled Substances Act (CSA). Schedule I substances are those for which the federal government has made the following findings:

² Criminal enactments are treated differently. Local criminal ordinances are presumed invalid, and that presumption cannot be overcome if the local enactment prohibits what state criminal law allows or allows what state criminal law prohibits. *See City of Portland v. Dollarhide*, 300 Or 490, 501, 714 P2d 220 (1986). Consequently, the Oregon Supreme Court's case law is clear that a local government may not recriminalize conduct for which state law provides criminal immunity. *See City of Portland v. Jackson*, 316 Or 143, 147-48, 850 P2d 1093 (1993) (explaining how to determine whether a state law permits what an ordinance prohibits, including where the Legislature expressly permits specified conduct).

³ See, e.g., State ex rel Haley v. City of Troutdale, 281 Or 203, 210-11, 576 P2d 1238 (1978) (finding no manifest legislative intent to preempt local provisions that supplemented the state building code with more stringent restrictions).

⁴ See Rogue Valley Sewer Services v. City of Phoenix, 357 Or 437, 454-55, __ P3d __ (2015); see also Thunderbird Mobile Club v. City of Wilsonville, 234 Or App 457, 474, 228 P3d 650, rev den, 348 Or 524 (2010) ("A local ordinance is not incompatible with state law simply because it imposes greater requirements than does the state, nor because the ordinance and state law deal with different aspects of the same subject." (internal quotations omitted)). ⁵ Rogue Valley Sewer Services, 357 Or at 453-55 (concluding that explicit authorization for cities to regulate certain utilities did not, by negative implication, create a broad preemption of the field of utility regulation); Gunderson, LLC v. City of Portland, 352 Or 648, 662, 290 P3d 803 (2012) (explaining that even if a preemption based on a negative inference is plausible, if it is not the only inference that is plausible, it is "insufficient to constitute the unambiguous expression of preemptive intention" required under home rule cases).

- The drug or other substance has a high potential for abuse;
- The drug or other substance has no currently accepted medical use in treatment in the United States; and
- There is a lack of accepted safety for use of the drug or other substance under medical supervision.

Oregon's laws on medical and recreational marijuana do not, and cannot, provide immunity from federal prosecution. Consequently, state law does not protect marijuana plants from being seized or people from being prosecuted if the federal government chooses to take action under the CSA against those using marijuana in compliance with state law. Similarly, cities cannot provide immunity from federal prosecution.

An Overview of Oregon's Marijuana Laws

Oregon Medical Marijuana Act

Oregon has had a medical marijuana program since 1998, when voters approved Ballot Measure 67, the Oregon Medical Marijuana Act (OMMA) (codified at ORS 475.300 – ORS 475.346). Since that time, the Legislature has amended the OMMA on a number of occasions. Generally, under the OMMA, a person suffering from a qualifying debilitating health condition must get a written statement from a physician that the medical use of marijuana may mitigate the symptoms or effects of that condition. The person may then obtain a medical marijuana card from the Oregon Health Authority, which is the agency charged with regulating medical marijuana. The patient may designate a caregiver and a grower if the patient decides not to grow his or her own marijuana, each of whom may also get a medical marijuana card. Patients, caregivers and growers with medical marijuana cards, who act in compliance with the OMMA, are immune from state criminal prosecution for any criminal offense in which possession, delivery or manufacture of marijuana is an element. Those without medical marijuana cards may also claim immunity from state criminal prosecution if they are in compliance with the OMMA and, within 12 months prior to the arrest at issue, had received a diagnosis of a debilitating medical condition for which a physician had advised medical marijuana could mitigate the symptoms or effects.

The OMMA also provides protection from state criminal prosecution for medical marijuana processors and medical marijuana dispensaries acting in compliance with the law. Although the OMMA did not originally envision dispensaries, in 2013 the Legislature created a system for state-registered facilities to lawfully transfer marijuana between growers and patients or caregivers. In its original form, the dispensary system failed to address many local government concerns, some of which the Legislature addressed in HB 3400 (2015).

HB 3400 amends the OMMA in a number of ways, including limiting the number of plants at a medical marijuana grow site; allowing medical marijuana growers to possess the amount of usable marijuana harvested from their mature plants, within certain limits; allowing medical marijuana growers to apply for a recreational grow license; changing the amount which a patient

may reimburse his or her grower; adding a new registration category for medical marijuana processors; adding testing, labeling, inspection and reporting requirements; and changing and adding limitations on where dispensaries and processors can locate.

Recreational Marijuana

In November 2014, Oregon voters approved Ballot Measure 91, which decriminalized the personal growing and use of certain amounts of recreational marijuana by persons 21 years of age or older. Measure 91 also designated the Oregon Liquor Control Commission (OLCC) as the agency charged with licensing and regulating the growing, processing and sale of recreational marijuana. In particular, the OLCC was directed to administer a license program for producers, processors, wholesalers and retailers, and under that program, a person may hold more than one type of license.

HB 3400 preserves the general structure of Measure 91, but also makes important changes, including: allowing for personal making, processing or storing of up to 16 ounces of homemade marijuana concentrates; adding a requirement that those who work for recreational marijuana retailers hold a handlers permit; directing the OLCC to develop and maintain a seed-to-sale tracking system; directing the OLCC to adopt restrictions on the size of recreational marijuana grows; adding testing, labeling, inspection and reporting requirements for licensees; and changing and adding certain land use standards as they relate to marijuana.

Taxation of Recreational Marijuana

Originally under Measure 91, the state tax on recreational marijuana would have been imposed on growers at a rate of \$35 per ounce of marijuana flowers, \$10 per ounce of marijuana leaves, and \$5 per immature marijuana plant. Under HB 2041 (2015), the Legislature revised the state tax structure to impose a 17 percent tax on the retail sale of marijuana, to be collected by marijuana retailers. Early sales of recreational marijuana from medical marijuana dispensaries, discussed below, will be taxed at a higher rate. Starting January 4, 2016, early sales of recreational marijuana from medical marijuana dispensaries will be taxed at a rate of 25 percent.

As was the case under Measure 91, 10 percent of the state tax will be transferred to cities to "assist local law enforcement in performing its duties" under Measure 91.6 That 10 percent will be distributed using different metrics before and after July 1, 2017. Before July 1, 2017, tax revenues will be distributed proportionately to all Oregon cities based on their population. After July 1, 2017, those revenues will be distributed proportionately based on the number of licenses issued for premises located in each city. Fifty percent of revenues will be distributed based on the number of production, processor and wholesale licenses issued in the city, and the other 50 percent will be distributed based on the number of retail licenses issued in the city. However,

⁶ The remaining tax revenues will be distributed as follows: 40 percent to the Common School Fund; 20 percent to the Mental Health Alcoholism and Drug Services Account; 15 percent to the State Police Account; and 10 percent to counties.

under HB 2041, if a city adopts an ordinance prohibiting the establishment of any registered or licensed marijuana activities, the city will not be eligible to receive state marijuana tax revenues.

HB 3400 preempts local governments from imposing more than a 3 percent tax on the production, processing or sale of recreational marijuana by a retail licensee.

Early Sales of Recreational Marijuana

As of July 1, 2015, people 21 years of age and older may possess limited amounts of recreational marijuana under state law. However, the OLCC does not expect to issue licenses for the retail sale of recreational marijuana until sometime in 2016. To allow the OLCC time to implement its licensing system, while also providing an avenue for people to purchase recreational marijuana in compliance with state law, the Legislature authorized medical marijuana dispensaries to sell limited quantities of recreational marijuana.

In particular, starting October 1, 2015, medical marijuana dispensaries will be able to sell the following to a person who is 21 or older and presents proof of age:

- One quarter of one ounce of dried marijuana leaves and flowers per person per day;
- Four marijuana plants that are not flowering; and
- Marijuana seeds.

Sales of recreational marijuana from medical dispensaries currently are set to end on December 31, 2016. At that time, recreational retail facilities likely will be operating. In the meantime, cities can opt out of early sales by ordinance.

Local Government Options for Regulation of Marijuana

Any city wanting to regulate or prohibit marijuana activities should work closely with its legal counsel to survey existing state law and local code, develop a means to implement and enforce any new ordinances, and then craft the necessary amendments to the city's code to accomplish the council's intent.

As set out in HB 3400 and under their home rule authority, cities have a number of options for regulating marijuana activities. Whether to regulate is a local choice. What follows is an overview of the options available to cities. However, before embarking on any form of regulation, cities should begin by examining the seven types of marijuana activities authorized by state statute and the restrictions state law (including administrative regulations adopted by the OLCC and OHA) places on each type of activity to determine whether a gap exists between what state law allows and what the community desires to further restrict.

Registration and Licenses

Under HB 3400, there are seven marijuana activities that require registration or a license from the state. This guide focuses on regulation of those activities. Although some cities may be interested in regulating individual conduct involving personal growing, possession, and use of marijuana, those regulations are beyond the scope of this guide.

Oregon's Seven Regulated Marijuana Activities

Marijuana Type	Grow	Make Products	Wholesale	Transfer to User
Medical OHA Registration	Marijuana Grow Site: Location for planting, cultivating, growing, trimming, or harvesting marijuana or drying marijuana leaves or flowers Register under ORS 475.304	Marijuana Processing Site: Location for compounding or converting marijuana into medical products, concentrates or extracts Register under section 85 of HB 3400	None	Medical Marijuana Dispensary: Transfer usable marijuana, immature marijuana plants, seed, and medical products, concentrates and extracts to patients and caregivers Register under ORS 475.314
Recreational OLCC License	Producers: Manufacture, plant, cultivate, grow, harvest Obtain license under section 12 of HB 3400	Processors: Process, compound or convert marijuana into products, concentrates or extracts, but does not include packaging or labeling Obtain license under section 14 of HB 3400	Wholesalers: Purchase marijuana items for resale to a person other than a consumer Obtain license under section 15 of HB 3400	Retailers: Sell marijuana items to a consumer Obtain license under section 16 of HB 3400 *Certain employees must obtain an OLCC handlers permit under section 19 of HB 3400

State Restrictions on the Location of Medical and Recreational Marijuana Activities

Before regulating or prohibiting state-registered or licensed marijuana activities, cities should examine the restrictions in state law. It is important to know about any state restrictions that create a regulatory "floor." In other words, although the courts generally have upheld a city's authority to impose more stringent restrictions than those described in state law, a city likely cannot impose restrictions that are more lenient than those described in state law. So, for

example, where state law requires a 1,000-foot buffer between medical marijuana dispensaries, a city could not allow dispensaries to locate within 500 feet of each other. Moreover, some cities may determine that state regulation of marijuana activities is sufficient and that local regulation is therefore unnecessary.

For those cities interested in prohibiting any of the marijuana activities listed above, it is important to examine the state restrictions because, particularly in smaller communities, those restrictions effectively may preclude a person from becoming registered with or licensed by the state to engage in marijuana activities.

Medical Grow Sites and Recreational Producers

HB 3400 does not restrict where medical marijuana grow sites or recreational marijuana producers can locate. However, it does place more stringent limitations on the number of plants that a medical marijuana grower can grow in residential zones and directs the OLCC to adopt rules restricting the size of recreational marijuana grow canopies.

Generally, a medical marijuana grow site may have up to 12 mature plants if it is located in a residential zone, and up to 48 mature plants if it is located in any other zone. However, there are exceptions for certain existing grow sites. If all growers at a site had registered with the state by January 1, 2015, the grow site is limited to the number of plants that were at the grow site as of December 31, 2015, not to exceed 24 mature plants per grow site in a residential zone and 96 mature plants per grow site in all other zones. A grower loses the right to claim those exceptions, however, if the grower's registration is suspended or revoked.

Medical Processing Sites and Recreational Processors

Processors that make marijuana extracts may not be located in an area zoned for residential use.

Medical Marijuana Dispensaries

Prior to HB 3400, state law provided that dispensaries had to be located in areas zoned for commercial, industrial, mixed use or agricultural land. Some dispensary owners argued that, as a result, local governments had to allow dispensaries to locate in those zones. The Legislature has now revised that provision to remove the list of allowable zones and replace it with a restriction: dispensaries may not be located in residential zones.

Prior to HB 3400, dispensaries could not locate within 1,000 feet of a public or private elementary, secondary or career school attended primarily by minors. The Legislature has now revised that restriction so that a dispensary may not locate within 1,000 feet of a public elementary or secondary school for which attendance is compulsory under ORS 339.020 or a private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching children as described in

ORS 339.030(1)(a).⁷ As a practical matter, that means that dispensaries cannot locate within 1,000 feet of most public and private elementary, middle and high schools. However, if a school is established within 1,000 feet of an existing dispensary, the dispensary may remain where it is unless the OHA revokes its registration.

In addition, the Legislature retained the requirement that dispensaries may not be located at the same address as a grow site and may not be located within 1,000 feet of another dispensary.

Recreational Wholesalers and Retailers

Wholesale and retail licensees may not locate in an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use. The same requirements that apply to medical marijuana dispensaries regarding their proximity to schools apply to retail licensees. As a practical matter, a retail licensee may not locate within 1,000 feet of most public and private elementary, middle and high schools. However, if a school is established within 1,000 feet of an existing retail licensee, the licensee may remain where it is unless the OLCC revokes its license.

Local Tax

The OMMA was silent on local authority to tax, meaning that local governments retained their home rule authority to tax medical marijuana. Measure 91, on the other hand, attempted to preempt local government authority to tax recreational marijuana, though there were significant questions regarding the effect and scope of that purported preemption.

Under HB 3400, the Legislature has vested authority to "impose a tax or fee on the production, processing or sale of marijuana items" solely in the Legislative Assembly, except as provided by law. The Legislature has also provided that a city may not "adopt or enact ordinances imposing a tax or fee on the production, processing or sale of marijuana items," except as provided by law. HB 3400 goes on to provide that cities may adopt an ordinance, which must be referred to the voters, imposing a tax or fee of up to 3 percent on the sale of marijuana items by a retail licensee. The ordinance must be referred to the voters in a statewide general election, meaning an election in November of an even-numbered year. However, if a city has adopted an ordinance

ORS 339.030(1)(a) provides, "In the following cases, children may not be required to attend public full-time schools: (a) Children being taught in a private or parochial school in the courses of study usually taught in grades 1 through 12 in the public schools and in attendance for a period equivalent to that required of children attending public schools in the 1994-1995 school year."

⁷ ORS 339.020 provides, "Except as provided in ORS 339.030:

⁽¹⁾ Every person having control of a child between the ages of 7 and 18 years who has not completed the 12th grade is required to send the child to, and maintain the child in, regular attendance at a public full-time school during the entire school term.

⁽²⁾ If a person has control of a child five or six years of age and has enrolled the child in a public school, the person is required to send the child to, and maintain the child in, regular attendance at the public school while the child is enrolled in the public school."

prohibiting the establishment of any recreational marijuana licensees or any medical marijuana registrants in the city, the city may not impose a local tax under this provision of the legislation.

Although HB 3400 provides that cities may impose a tax on sales by retail licensees, it remains unclear whether a city can tax medical marijuana. In particular, cities should consult their attorney on whether the authority to impose a tax or fee on "the production, processing or sale of marijuana items," vested solely in the Legislature except as provided in HB 3400, includes the authority to tax medical marijuana.

For those cities that enacted taxes on medical or recreational marijuana prior to the Legislature's adoption of HB 3400, the status of those taxes remains an open question. Arguably, cities that had "adopt[ed] or enact[ed]" taxes prior to the effective date of HB 3400 are grandfathered in under the law. However, the issue is not free from doubt, and cities that decide to collect on pre-HB 3400 taxes should be prepared to defend their ability to do so against legal challenge. Consequently, cities that plan to continue to collect taxes imposed prior to the passage of HB 3400 should work closely with their city attorney to discuss the implications and risks of that approach.

Ban on Early Sales

Starting October 1, 2015, medical marijuana dispensaries may begin selling limited quantities of recreational marijuana. Cities may adopt an ordinance prohibiting those early sales without referring the ordinance to voters and likely without tax implications. Although a city adopting an ordinance "prohibiting the establishment" of certain marijuana activities is not eligible to receive state marijuana tax revenues, an ordinance prohibiting early sales would merely limit the activities at an existing medical marijuana dispensary. As a result, cities would likely remain eligible to receive state tax revenues.

However, cities likely cannot impose a local tax on early sales. Under HB 3400, cities may not adopt or enact ordinances imposing a tax or fee on the production, processing or sale of marijuana items, except as provided in that legislation. HB 3400 further stipulates that cities may refer an ordinance to voters imposing a tax of up to 3 percent on sales by a person that holds a retail license issued by the OLCC. Because early sales of recreational marijuana will be made by medical marijuana dispensaries, and not by a retail licensee, a city likely is preempted from imposing a tax on early sales of recreational marijuana. However, cities interested in imposing a local tax on early sales should consult their city attorney.

Ban on State-Registered and Licensed Activities

Under HB 3400, cities may prohibit within the city the operation of recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers and retailers, as well as medical marijuana processors and medical marijuana dispensaries. HB 3400 is silent on whether a city can ban medical marijuana growers from operating in the city. However, HB 3400 does not indicate that the bill's process for banning marijuana activities is the exclusive means to do so. Cities considering banning

medical marijuana grow sites should talk to their city attorney about whether they can do so under either home rule, federal preemption or both legal theories.

The method for imposing the ban under HB 3400 will depend on when the city imposes the ban and whether the city is located in a county that voted against Measure 91 by 55 percent or more.

Before December 24, 2015, cities located in counties that voted against Measure 91 by 55 percent or more (Baker, Crook, Gilliam, Grant, Harney, Jefferson, Klamath, Lake, Malheur, Morrow, Sherman, Umatilla, Union, Wallowa and Wheeler Counties) can enact a ban through council adoption of an ordinance prohibiting any of the six activities listed above. After that time, and for cities not located in those counties, the city council may adopt an ordinance banning any of the six activities listed above, but that ordinance must be referred to the voters at a statewide general election, meaning an election in November of an even-numbered year. Medical marijuana dispensaries and medical marijuana processors that have registered with the state by the time their city adopts a prohibition ordinance are not subject to the ban if they have successfully completed a city or county land use application process.

Under either procedure, as soon as the city council adopts the ordinance, it must submit it to the Oregon Health Authority (OHA) for medical bans and the Oregon Liquor Control Commission (OLCC) for recreational bans, and those agencies will stop registering and licensing the banned facilities. In other words, for cities using the referral process, the council's adoption of an ordinance acts as a moratorium on new facilities until the election occurs.

For cities using the referral process, it is also important to note that once the elections official files the referral with the county election office, the ballot measure is certified to the ballot. At that point, the restrictions on public employees engaging in political activity will apply. Consequently, cities should consult the Secretary of State and their city attorney to ensure that public employees are complying with state elections law in their communications about the pending measure.

In determining whether to prohibit any of the marijuana activities registered or licensed by the state, cities may want to consider the tax implications. Cities that enact a prohibition on any marijuana activity likely will not be eligible to receive state marijuana tax revenues or impose a local tax, even if the city bans only certain activities and allows others.

It is also important to note that HB 3400 does not provide an avenue for cities to ban the personal use and growing of marijuana. As a result, cities interested in enacting such a ban should consult with their city attorney to discuss whether the city can do so under either home rule, federal preemption or both legal theories.

Business License Ordinance

Although HB 3400 provides an avenue for cities to ban certain marijuana activities, nothing in the legislation makes that the exclusive means for prohibiting marijuana activities. As a result, some cities may not need to go through the procedures outlined in HB 3400 to ban marijuana

activities because they may already have laws in place that create an effective ban. However, cities relying on other avenues to ban should be prepared to defend their authority to do so.

A number of cities have imposed a ban through a local business license ordinance that provides that it is unlawful for any person to operate a business within the city without a business license, and further provides that the city will not issue a business license to any person operating a business that violates local, state or federal law. Indeed, cities that have a business license ordinance in place should review their existing codes to determine if such wording already exists. Additionally, whether adopting a new business license program or amending an existing one to provide that the city will not issue a business license to any person operating a business that violates local, state or federal law, a city should work with its legal counsel to ensure that its business license ordinance includes an enforcement mechanism to address a situation in which a person is operating a business without a business license.

In addition, cities that decide to enforce a business license ordinance instead of adopting a ban under HB 3400 should consult their city attorney regarding *City of Cave Junction v. State of Oregon* (Josephine County Circuit Court Case #14CV0588; Court of Appeals Case #A158118) and *Providing All Patients Access v. City of Cave Junction* (Josephine County Circuit Court Case #14CV1246, Court of Appeals Case #A160044). At issue in those cases is whether the city of Cave Junction may enforce its business license ordinance, which prohibits issuance of a business license to a business operating in violation of local, state or federal law, to effectively prohibit medical marijuana dispensaries from operating. Two trial courts in Oregon have upheld the city's business license ordinance against challenges that it has been preempted by the OMMA (prior to its amendment by HB 3400). Both of those cases currently are on appeal before the Oregon Court of Appeals.

Development Code

Cities that desire to impose a prohibition on marijuana operations could also include in their development codes a provision stating that the city will not issue a development permit to any person operating a business that violates local, state or federal law. If not already defined, or if defined narrowly, the city will want to amend its code to provide that a development permit includes any permit needed to develop, improve or occupy land including, but not limited to, public works permits, building permits or occupancy permits.

Land Use Code

As noted above, state law places restrictions on where certain marijuana activities can locate, including prohibiting certain processors, dispensaries and retail establishments from locating in residential zones. In addition, under HB 3400, a land use compatibility statement is required as part of the OLCC's licensing process for all recreational licensees. In particular, before issuing a producer, processor, wholesaler or retailer license, the OLCC must request a statement from the city that the requested license is for a location where the proposed use of the land is a permitted or conditional use. If the proposed use is prohibited in the zone, the OLCC may not issue a license. A city has 21 days to act on the OLCC's request, but when that 21 days begins varies.

If the land use is allowed as an outright permitted use, the city has 21 days from receipt of the request; if the land use is a conditional use, the city has 21 days from the final local permit approval. The city's response to the OLCC is not a land use decision. In addition to those state requirements, cities can impose their own more stringent land use requirements and restrictions.

Moreover, cities that desire to prohibit marijuana facilities altogether might also do so through amendments to their land use codes. Before considering this option, cities should work with their legal counsel to first determine if the wording of their zoning codes already prohibits marijuana operations, and if not, to identify the appropriate land use procedures and the amount of time it would take to comply with them. If the wording in a city's zoning codes does not prohibit marijuana operations, the city has different options. One option is to add wording such as "an allowed use is one that does not violate local, state or federal law" to the city's zoning code. Cities that adopt a prohibition that references federal law would then rely on existing mechanisms in their ordinances for addressing zoning violations.⁸

Time, Place and Manner Regulations

HB 3400 provides that local governments may impose reasonable regulations on the time, place and manner of operation of marijuana facilities. The League believes that, under the home rule provisions of the Oregon Constitution, local governments do not need legislative authorization to impose time, place and manner restrictions, and that the Legislature's decision to expressly confirm local authority to impose certain restrictions does not foreclose cities from imposing other restrictions not described in state law.

HB 3400 provides that cities may regulate marijuana facilities by imposing reasonable restrictions on:

- The hours of operation of recreational marijuana retailers and medical marijuana grow sites, processing sites and dispensaries;
- The location of recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers and retailers, as well as medical marijuana grow sites, processing sites and dispensaries, except that a city may not impose more than a 1,000-foot buffer between recreational marijuana retailers;
- The manner of operation of recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers and retailers, as well as medical marijuana processors and dispensaries; and

_

⁸ Under existing law, the League believes it is clear that a city may enforce civil regulations of general applicability (such as zoning codes, business licenses and the like) through the imposition of civil penalties. Although a city likely cannot directly recriminalize conduct allowed under state criminal law, it is a different legal question whether a city may impose criminal penalties for violating a requirement of general applicability when the conduct at issue is otherwise immune from prosecution under state law (i.e. whether a city may impose criminal penalties for operation of a medical marijuana dispensary in violation of a city's land use code). *Cf. State v. Babson*, 355 Or 383, 326 P3d 559 (2014) (explaining that generally applicable, facially neutral law, such as a rule prohibiting use of public property during certain hours, may be valid even if it burdens expressive conduct otherwise protected under Article I, section 8, of the Oregon Constitution). Consequently, a city should work closely with its city attorney before imposing criminal penalties against a person operating a medical marijuana facility in violation of a local civil code, such as a zoning, business license or development code.

• The public's access to the premises of recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers and retailers, as well as medical marijuana grow sites, processing sites and dispensaries.

The law also provides that time, place and manner regulations imposed on recreational licenses must be consistent with city and county comprehensive plans, zoning ordinances, and public health and safety laws, which would be true of any ordinance imposed by a city.

Although the law does not provide for regulation of the hours of operation for recreational producers, processors or wholesalers, or for regulation of the manner of operation of medical marijuana grow sites, the League believes that cities could regulate those aspects of operation under their home rule authority. However, a city considering regulating those activities should consult with their legal counsel on the risks of litigation and the likelihood of prevailing.

What regulations a city ultimately adopts will depend on community wants and needs, as well as on the rules adopted by the OHA and the OLCC. HB 3400 authorizes, and in some cases requires, those agencies to adopt rules implementing the law, and those rules may address many of the issues concerning local governments. As a result, although cities may want to begin considering the types of regulations that they want to impose, cities should be aware that local needs may change with experience and as new administrative rules go into effect.

Appendix A

Early Sales Opt Out

APPENDIX A

Early Sales Opt Out

As of July 1, 2015, people aged 21 and older may possess certain amounts of recreational marijuana under Oregon law. However, the Oregon Liquor Control Commission, which is the state agency charged with licensing the retail sale of recreational marijuana, does not expect to begin licensing retail stores until sometime in 2016. To address the gap between the date when people can possess recreational marijuana under Oregon law and the date when people will be able to purchase recreational marijuana from a retail store, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill 460, which allows for limited sales of recreational marijuana from medical marijuana dispensaries starting October 1, 2015. Under SB 460, cities can adopt an ordinance prohibiting those limited recreational sales. Although not required by the statute, the League recommends the city submit its early sales opt out ordinance to Oregon Health Authority so that they may aid in any enforcement of the ban.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF {NAME} DECLARING A BAN ON THE SALE OF RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BY MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY

Whereas, the Oregon Medical Marijuana Act created a system for the transfer of medical marijuana between growers and patients and caregivers through medical marijuana dispensaries;

Whereas, the voters adopted Measure 91 in November 2014, which provides criminal immunity for people aged 21 or older who possess certain amounts of marijuana and directs the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to license the retail sale of marijuana;

Whereas, the Oregon Liquor Control Commission has not yet licensed the retail sale of recreational marijuana;

Whereas, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill 460 (2015) to allow medical marijuana dispensaries to sell limited marijuana retail product starting October 1, 2015;

Whereas, Senate Bill 460 (2015) provides that a city may adopt ordinances prohibiting the sale of limited marijuana retail product from medical marijuana dispensaries;

Whereas, the City Council wants to prohibit the sale of marijuana retail products from medical marijuana dispensaries in the city to protect and benefit the public health, safety and welfare of existing and future residents and businesses in the city;

NOW THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING, THE CITY OF {NAME} ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

BAN DECLARED. The City of {Name} hereby prohibits the sale of limited marijuana retail product in any area subject to the jurisdiction of City of {Name} as described in section 2 of Senate Bill 460 (2015).

DURATION OF BAN. The ban imposed by this ordinance will be effective until December 31, 2016, or until the Legislature ends sales of limited marijuana retail product by medical marijuana dispensaries, whichever comes later.

ENFORCEMENT. {Cities need to think about how to enforce a ban, with mechanisms such as revocation or suspension of a business license, revocation of a marijuana activities registration, injunction, or civil penalty. Cities that consider imposing a criminal penalty should work closely with their city attorney to assess their ability to do so under SB 460 and HB 3400.}

EMERGENCY. This ordinance being necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, an emergency is declared to exist, and this ordinance shall be in full force and effect on {date/passage}.

This document is not a substitute for legal advice. City councils considering prohibiting or taxing any marijuana facilities should not rely solely on this sample. Any city council considering any form of regulation of marijuana should consult with its city attorney regarding the advantages, disadvantages, risks and limitations of any given approach.

Legal counsel can also assist a city in preparing an ordinance that is consistent with local procedures, existing ordinances and a city's charter, and advise on what process is needed to adopt the ordinance.

The sample provided is intended to be a starting point, not an ending point, for any jurisdiction considering prohibiting or taxing marijuana.

Appendix B

Council Opt Out

APPENDIX B

Council Opt Out

Note: This option is available only for certain cities and only until December 24, 2015.

Under HB 3400, cities may prohibit within the city the establishment of recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers and retailers, as well as medical marijuana processors and medical marijuana dispensaries. Medical marijuana dispensaries are grandfathered and are able to operate despite a ban if they: (1) have applied to be registered by July 1, 2015 or were registered prior to the date on which the ordinance is adopted, and (2) successfully completed the land use application process (if applicable). Medical marijuana processors are grandfathered and are able to operate despite a ban if they: (1) were registered under ORS 475.300 to 475.346 and were processing usable marijuana on or before July 1, 2015 or (2) are registered under section 85 of HB 3400 prior to the date on which the ordinance is adopted by the governing body, and (3) have successfully completed a local land use application process (if applicable).

HB 3400 is silent on whether a city can ban medical marijuana growers from operating, consequently, this model does not address the banning of medical marijuana growers. Cities interested in banning medical marijuana growers should consult with their city attorney about whether they could do so under the city's home rule authority and/or federal legal theories.

Cities located in counties that voted against Measure 91 by 55 percent or more (Baker, Crook, Gilliam, Grant, Harney, Jefferson, Klamath, Lake, Malheur, Morrow, Sherman, Umatilla, Union, Wallowa and Wheeler Counties) can enact a ban through council adoption of an ordinance prohibiting any of the six activities listed above. However, the city council must do so prior to December 24, 2015. After that date a ban can only be effectuated using the referral process set out in Appendix C.

After adopting a prohibition ordinance, the council must submit the ordinance to the Oregon Health Authority (if banning medical marijuana businesses) and/or the Oregon Liquor Control Commission (if banning recreational marijuana businesses) and those agencies will then stop registering and licensing the prohibited businesses. Each agency has a form for submitting the ordinances.

Cities that adopt an ordinance prohibiting the establishment of medical or recreational marijuana businesses are not eligible to receive a distribution of state marijuana tax revenues or to impose a local tax under section 34a of HB 3400.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF {NAME} DECLARING A BAN ON {MEDICAL MARIJUANA PROCESSING SITES, MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA PRODUCERS, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA PROCESSORS, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA WHOLESALERS, AND/OR RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA RETAILERS} AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY

Whereas, the Oregon Medical Marijuana Act, as amended by House Bill 3400 (2015) provides that the Oregon Health Authority will register medical marijuana processing sites and medical marijuana dispensaries;

Whereas, Measure 91, which the voters adopted in November 2014, directs the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to license the production, processing, wholesale, and retail sale of recreational marijuana;

Whereas, section 133 of HB 3400 provides that a qualifying city may prohibit, within its jurisdiction, the establishment of certain state-registered and state-licensed marijuana businesses by adopting an ordinance within 180 days of the effective date of HB 3400;⁹

Whereas, {City} is a "qualifying city" as defined in section 133 of House Bill 3400 (2015) because {City} is located in a county in which not less than 55 percent of the votes cast in the county on Measure 91 in November 2014 were against the measure;

Whereas, the City Council wants to prohibit the operation of {type of marijuana activity} in the city to protect and benefit the public health, safety and welfare of existing and future residents and businesses;

Whereas, the City Council believes that the public benefits from prohibiting the operation of {type of marijuana activity} in the city outweigh the benefit the city would receive from state or local tax revenues;

NOW THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING, THE CITY OF {NAME} ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

DEFINITIONS.

<u>Marijuana</u> means the plant Cannabis family Cannabaceae, any part of the plant Cannabis family Cannabaceae and the seeds of the plant Cannabis family Cannabaceae.

<u>Marijuana processing site</u> means an entity registered with the Oregon Health Authority to process marijuana.

<u>Marijuana processor</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to process marijuana.

<u>Marijuana producer</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to manufacture, plant, cultivate, grow or harvest marijuana.

<u>Marijuana retailer</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to sell marijuana items to a consumer in this state.

<u>Marijuana wholesaler</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to purchase items in this state for resale to a person other than a consumer.

_

⁹ Those counties include the following: Baker, Crook, Gilliam, Grant, Harney, Jefferson, Klamath, Lake, Malheur, Morrow, Sherman, Umatilla, Union, Wallowa and Wheeler.

<u>Medical marijuana dispensary</u> means an entity registered with the Oregon Health Authority to transfer marijuana.

BAN DECLARED. As provided in section 133 of House Bill 3400 (2015), the City of {Name} hereby prohibits the establishment of the following in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city {select desired options from the list below}:

- (a) Marijuana processing sites;
- (b) Medical marijuana dispensaries;
- (c) Marijuana producers;
- (d) Marijuana processors;
- (e) Marijuana wholesalers;
- (f) Marijuana retailers.

EXCEPTION. The prohibition set out in this ordinance does not apply to a marijuana processing site or medical marijuana dispensary that meets the conditions set out in subsections 6 or 7 of section 133, section 136, or section 137 of House Bill 3400 (2015).

EMERGENCY. This ordinance being necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, an emergency is declared to exist, and this ordinance shall be in full force and effect on {date/passage}.

This document is not a substitute for legal advice. City councils considering prohibiting or taxing any marijuana facilities should not rely solely on this sample. Any city council considering any form of regulation of marijuana should consult with its city attorney regarding the advantages, disadvantages, risks and limitations of any given approach.

Legal counsel can also assist a city in preparing an ordinance that is consistent with local procedures, existing ordinances and a city's charter, and advise on what process is needed to adopt the ordinance.

The sample provided is intended to be a starting point, not an ending point, for any jurisdiction considering prohibiting or taxing marijuana.

Appendix C Opt Out by Voter Referral

APPENDIX C

Opt Out by Voter Referral

Cities that are not in a county that voted no on Measure 91 by 55 percent or more, or cities that desire to ban certain marijuana activities after December 24, 2015, may do so only by referral at a statewide general election, meaning an election in November of an even-numbered year. Cities should consult the Secretary of State's referral manual and work with the city recorder or similar official to determine the procedures necessary to refer an ordinance to the voters.

Once adopted, the city must submit the ordinance to the Oregon Health Authority (if banning medical marijuana businesses) and/or the Oregon Liquor Control Commission (if banning recreational marijuana businesses), and those agencies will then stop registering and licensing the prohibited businesses until the next statewide general election. In other words, for cities using the referral process, the council's adoption of an ordinance acts as a moratorium on new facilities until the election. Each agency has a form for submitting the ordinances.

Medical marijuana dispensaries are grandfathered and are able to operate despite a ban if they: (1) have applied to be registered by July 1, 2015 or were registered prior to the date on which the ordinance is adopted by the city council, and (2) successfully completed the land use application process (if applicable). Medical marijuana processors are grandfathered and are able to operate despite a ban if they: (1) were registered under ORS 475.300 to 475.346 and were processing usable marijuana on or before July 1, 2015 or (2) are registered under section 85 of HB 3400 prior to the date on which the ordinance is adopted by the governing body, and (3) have successfully completed a local land use application process (if applicable).

Cities that adopt an ordinance prohibiting the establishment of medical or recreational marijuana businesses are not eligible to receive a distribution of state marijuana tax revenues or to impose a local tax under section 34a of HB 3400.

In addition, it is important to note that once the elections official files the referral with the county election office, the ballot measure is certified to the ballot. At that point, the restrictions on public employees engaging in political activity will apply. Consequently, cities should consult the Secretary of State's manual *Restrictions on Political Campaigning by Public Employees* and their city attorney to ensure that public employees are complying with state elections law in their communications about the pending measure.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF {NAME} DECLARING A BAN ON {MEDICAL MARIJUANA PROCESSING SITES, MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA PRODUCERS, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA PROCESSORS, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA WHOLESALERS, AND/OR RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA RETAILERS}; REFERRING ORDINANCE; AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY

Whereas, the Oregon Medical Marijuana Act, as amended by House Bill 3400 (2015) provides that the Oregon Health Authority will register medical marijuana processing sites and medical marijuana dispensaries;

Whereas, Measure 91, which the voters adopted in November 2014, directs the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to license the production, processing, wholesale, and retail sale of recreational marijuana;

Whereas, section 134 of HB 3400 provides that a city council may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the electors of the city prohibiting the establishment of certain state-registered and state-licensed marijuana businesses in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city;

Whereas, the city council wants to refer the question of whether to prohibit{recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers, and/or retailers, as well as medical marijuana processors and/or medical marijuana dispensaries} to the voters of {City};

NOW THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING, THE CITY OF {NAME} ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

DEFINITIONS.

<u>Marijuana</u> means the plant Cannabis family Cannabaceae, any part of the plant Cannabis family Cannabaceae and the seeds of the plant Cannabis family Cannabaceae.

<u>Marijuana processing site</u> means an entity registered with the Oregon Health Authority to process marijuana.

<u>Marijuana processor</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to process marijuana.

<u>Marijuana producer</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to manufacture, plant, cultivate, grow or harvest marijuana.

<u>Marijuana retailer</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to sell marijuana items to a consumer in this state.

<u>Marijuana wholesaler</u> means an entity licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission to purchase items in this state for resale to a person other than a consumer.

<u>Medical marijuana dispensary</u> means an entity registered with the Oregon Health Authority to transfer marijuana.

BAN DECLARED. As described in section 134 of House Bill 3400 (2015), the City of {Name} hereby prohibits the establishment {and operation} of the following in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city {select desired options from the list below}:

(a) Marijuana processing sites;

¹⁰ Include this wording if (1) there are existing recreational licensees operating within the city and (2) the city does not wish to grandfather in those activities.

- (b) Medical marijuana dispensaries;
- (c) Marijuana producers;
- (d) Marijuana processors;
- (e) Marijuana wholesalers;
- (f) Marijuana retailers.

EXCEPTION. The prohibition set out in this ordinance does not apply to a marijuana processing site or medical marijuana dispensary that meets the conditions set out in subsections 6 or 7 of section 134, section 136, or section 137 of House Bill 3400 (2015).

REFERRAL. This ordinance shall be referred to the electors of the city of {name} at the next statewide general election on {date – Tuesday, November 8, 2016 is the next statewide general election}.

EMERGENCY. This ordinance being necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, an emergency is declared to exist, and this ordinance shall be in full force and effect on {date/passage}.

A RESOLUTION APPROVING REFERAL TO THE ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF {NAME} THE QUESTION OF BANNING {MEDICAL MARIJUANA PROCESSING SITES, MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA PRODUCERS, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA PROCESSORS, RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA WHOLESALERS, AND/OR RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA RETAILERS} WITHIN THE CITY¹¹

Whereas, section 134 of HB 3400 provides that a city council may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the electors of the city prohibiting the establishment of certain state-registered and state-licensed marijuana businesses in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city;

Whereas, the CITY OF {NAME} city council adopted Ordinance {number}, which prohibits the establishment of {list of marijuana activities} in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city;

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF {NAME} RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

MEASURE. A measure election is hereby called for the purpose of submitting to the electors of the CITY OF {NAME} a measure prohibiting the establishment of certain marijuana activities in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city, a copy of which is attached hereto as "Exhibit 1," and incorporated herein by reference. ¹²

ELECTION CONDUCTED BY MAIL. The measure election shall be held in the CITY OF {NAME} on {date – November 8, 2016 for the next general election}. As required by ORS

_

¹¹ Some cities approve the ballot title, question, summary, and explanatory statement by adopting an ordinance, rather than by adopting a separate resolution.

¹² Exhibit 1 should include the question and summary.

254.465, the measure election shall be conducted by mail by the County Clerk of {county name} County, according to the procedures adopted by the Oregon Secretary of State.

DELEGATION. The CITY OF {NAME} authorizes the {City Manager, City Administrator, City Recorder, or other appropriate city official} or the {City Manager, City Administrator, City Recorder, or other appropriate city official} designee, to act on behalf of the city and to take such further action as is necessary to carry out the intent and purposes set forth herein, in compliance with the applicable provisions of law.

PREPARATION OF BALLOT TITLE. The City Attorney is hereby directed to prepare the ballot title for the measure, and deposit the ballot title with the {city elections officer} within the times set forth by law.¹³

NOTICE OF BALLOT TITLE AND RIGHT TO APPEAL. Upon receiving the ballot title for this measure, the {city elections officer} shall publish in the next available edition of a newspaper of general circulation in the city a notice of receipt of the ballot title, including notice that an elector may file a petition for review of the ballot title.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT. The explanatory statement for the measure, which is attached hereto as "Exhibit 2," and incorporated herein by reference, is hereby approved.

FILING WITH COUNTY ELECTIONS OFFICE. The {city elections officer} shall deliver the Notice of Measure Election to the county clerk for {name of county} County for inclusion on the ballot for the {date} election.¹⁴

EFFECTIVE DATE. This resolution is effective upon adoption.

As noted, the ballot title, question, summary, and explanatory statement may be approved by the council through ordinance or resolution.

BALLOT TITLE

A caption which reasonably identifies the subject of the measure 10 word limit under ORS 250.035(1)(a)

Prohibits certain marijuana registrants {and/or} licensees in {city}

QUESTION

A question which plainly phrases the chief purpose of the measure so that an affirmative response to the question corresponds to an affirmative vote on the measure

¹³ Alternatively, the council may prepare the ballot title and attach it to the resolution for approval. In that case, this section might say, "The ballot title for the measure set forth as Exhibit {number} to this resolution is hereby adopted." A city's local rules may dictate who will prepare the ballot title.
¹⁴ The Notice of Measure Election is a form provided by the Oregon Secretary of State where cities provide the ballot title, question, summary, and explanatory statement. The form can be found on the Secretary of State's website at www.sos.oregon.gov.

20 word limit under ORS 250.035(1)(b)

Shall {city} prohibit {medical marijuana processors, medical marijuana dispensaries, recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers, and retailers} in {city}?

SUMMARY

A concise and impartial statement summarizing the measure and its major effect 175 word limit under ORS 250.035(1)(c)

*Note: This summary may need to be modified depending on which activities a city proposes to ban and whether it will grandfather in existing retail activities. By law, certain medical marijuana businesses can continue operating.

State law allows operation of registered medical marijuana processors, medical marijuana dispensaries and licensed recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers, and retailers. State law provides that a city council may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the voters to prohibit the establishment of any of those registered or licensed activities.

Approval of this measure would prohibit the establishment {and operation} ¹⁵ of {medical marijuana processors, medical marijuana dispensaries, recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers, and retailers} within the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city {provided that state law allows for continued operation of medical marijuana processors and medical marijuana dispensaries already registered – or in some cases, that have applied to be registered – and that have successfully completed a local land use application process}.

If this measure is approved, the city will be ineligible to receive distributions of state marijuana tax revenues and will be unable to impose a local tax or fee on the production, processing or sale of marijuana or any product into which marijuana has been incorporated.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

An impartial, simple and understandable statement explaining the measure and its effect for use in the county voters' pamphlet

500 word limit under ORS 251.345 and OAR 165-022-0040(3)

Approval of this measure would prohibit the establishment {and operation} ¹⁶ of certain marijuana activities within the city.

The Oregon Medical Marijuana Act, as amended by the Legislature in 2015, provides that the Oregon Health Authority will register medical marijuana processors and medical marijuana

-

¹⁵ Include this wording if (1) there are existing recreational licensees operating within the city and (2) the city does not wish to grandfather in those activities.

¹⁶ Include this wording if (1) there are existing recreational licensees operating within the city and (2) the city does not wish to grandfather in those activities.

dispensaries. Medical marijuana processors compound or convert marijuana into concentrates, extracts, edible products, and other products intended for human consumption and use. Medical marijuana dispensaries facilitate the transfer of marijuana and marijuana products between patients, caregivers, processors, and growers. Measure 91, approved by Oregon voters in 2014 and by the Legislature in 2015, provides that the Oregon Liquor Control Commission will license recreational marijuana producers (those who manufacture, plant, cultivate, grow or harvest marijuana), processors, wholesalers, and retailers.

A city council may adopt an ordinance prohibiting the establishment of any of those entities within the city, but the council must refer the ordinance to the voters at a statewide general election. The CITY OF {NAME} city council has adopted an ordinance prohibiting the establishment of {list of marijuana activities to be banned} within the city and, as a result, has referred this measure to the voters.

If approved, this measure would prohibit {medical marijuana processors, medical marijuana dispensaries, and/or recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers, and/or retailers} within the city. Medical marijuana processors and medical marijuana dispensaries that were registered with the state before the city council adopted the ordinance, and medical marijuana dispensaries that had applied to be registered on or before July 1, 2015, can continue operating in the city even if this measure is approved, if those entities have successfully completed a local land use application process.

Approval of this measure has revenue impacts. Currently, ten percent of state marijuana tax revenues will be distributed to cities to assist local law enforcement in performing their duties under Measure 91. If approved, this measure would make the city ineligible to receive distributions of state marijuana tax revenues.

Currently, under the 2015 legislation, a city may impose up to a three percent tax on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the city. However, a city that adopts an ordinance prohibiting the establishment of medical marijuana processors, medical marijuana dispensaries, or recreational marijuana producers, processors, wholesalers, or retailers may not impose a local tax or fee on the production, processing or sale of marijuana or any product into which marijuana has been incorporated. Approval of this measure would therefore prevent a city from imposing a local tax on those activities.

This document is not a substitute for legal advice. City councils considering prohibiting or taxing any marijuana facilities should not rely solely on this sample. Any city council considering any form of regulation of marijuana should consult with its city attorney regarding the advantages, disadvantages, risks and limitations of any given approach.

Legal counsel can also assist a city in preparing an ordinance that is consistent with local procedures, existing ordinances and a city's charter, and advise on what process is needed to adopt the ordinance. The sample provided is intended to be a starting point, not an ending point, for any jurisdiction considering prohibiting or taxing marijuana.

Appendix D

Local Tax by Voter Referral

APPENDIX D

Local Tax by Voter Referral

Under HB 3400, cities may impose up to a 3 percent tax on sales of marijuana items made by those with recreational retail licenses by referring an ordinance to the voters at a statewide general election, meaning an election in November of an even-numbered year. ¹⁷

However, sections 133 and 134 of HB 3400, which provide a mechanism for prohibiting the establishment of certain marijuana businesses, state that a city that adopts a prohibition under those sections may not impose a tax or fee on the production, processing or sale or marijuana or any product into which marijuana has been incorporated. As a result, if a city refers a local tax ordinance to the voters at the same election that it refers a prohibition ordinance to the voters, the city will want to consult its attorney regarding the effect of those two ordinances. The sample below includes wording for cities that put both ordinances on that same ballot. However, a city planning to refer both measures to the ballot should work closely with its city attorney on preparing those ordinances and referral documents.

As with any revenue raising measure, it's important that the budget committee approve any proposed taxes as part of its approval of the budget. See the Department of Revenue "Tax Election Ballot Measures" manual for more information.

In addition, it is important to note that once the elections official files the referral with the county election office, the ballot measure is certified to the ballot. At that point, the restrictions on public employees engaging in political activity will apply. Consequently, cities should consult the Secretary of State's manual *Restrictions on Political Campaigning by Public Employees* and their city attorney to ensure that public employees are complying with state elections law in their communications about the pending measure.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF {NAME} IMPOSING A {UP TO THREE} PERCENT TAX {OR FEE} ON THE SALE OF MARIJUANA ITEMS BY A MARIJUANA RETAILER AND REFERRING ORDINANCE¹⁸

Whereas, section 34a of House Bill 3400 (2015) provides that a city council may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the voters that imposes up to a three percent tax or fee on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city;

¹⁷ Cities that imposed marijuana taxes prior to the effective date of HB 3400 (2015) should talk to their city attorney about the status of those taxes.

¹⁸ No emergency clause is included in this ordinance because a city may not include an emergency clause in an ordinance regarding taxation. *See Advance Resorts v. City of Wheeler*, 141 Or App 166, 178, 917 P2d 61, *rev den*, 324 Or 322 (1996) (holding that a city may not include an emergency clause in an ordinance regarding taxation).

Whereas, the city council wants to impose a tax {or fee} on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city;

NOW THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING, THE CITY OF {NAME} ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

DEFINITIONS.

Marijuana item has the meaning given that term in Oregon Laws 2015, chapter 614, section 1.

Marijuana retailer means a person who sells marijuana items to a consumer in this state.

<u>Retail sale price</u> means the price paid for a marijuana item, excluding tax, to a marijuana retailer by or on behalf of a consumer of the marijuana item.

TAX IMPOSED. As described in section 34a of House Bill 3400 (2015), the City of {Name} hereby imposes a tax {or fee} of {up to three} percent on the retail sale price of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city.

COLLECTION. The tax shall be collected at the point of sale of a marijuana item by a marijuana retailer at the time at which the retail sale occurs and remitted by each marijuana retailer that engages in the retail sale of marijuana items.¹⁹

REFERRAL. This ordinance shall be referred to the electors of {city} at the next statewide general election on {date – Tuesday, November 8, 2016 is the next statewide general election}.

A RESOLUTION APPROVING REFERAL TO THE ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF {NAME} THE QUESTION OF IMPOSING A {UP TO THREE} PERCENT TAX {OR FEE} ON THE SALE OF MARIJUANA ITEMS BY A MARIJUANA RETAILER WITHIN THE CITY²⁰

Whereas, section 34a of House Bill 3400 (2015) provides that a city council may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the voters that imposes up to a three percent tax or fee on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city;

Whereas, the city of {name} city council adopted Ordinance {number}, which imposes a tax of {up to three} percent on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city;

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF {NAME} RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

MEASURE. A measure election is hereby called for the purpose of submitting to the electors of the city of {name} a measure imposing a {up to three} percent tax on the sale of marijuana items

¹⁹ Cities may want to include information about where, how, and when the tax must be remitted.

²⁰ Some cities approve the ballot title, question, summary, and explanatory statement by adopting an ordinance, rather than by adopting a separate resolution.

by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city, a copy of which is attached hereto as "Exhibit 1," and incorporated herein by reference.²¹

ELECTION CONDUCTED BY MAIL. The measure election shall be held in the city of {name} on {date – November 8, 2016 for the next general election}. As required by ORS 254.465, the measure election shall be conducted by mail by the County Clerk of {county name} County, according to the procedures adopted by the Oregon Secretary of State.

DELEGATION. The city of {name} authorizes the City Manager, or the City Manager's designee, to act on behalf of the city and to take such further action as is necessary to carry out the intent and purposes set forth herein, in compliance with the applicable provisions of law.

PREPARATION OF BALLOT TITLE. The City Attorney is hereby directed to prepare the ballot title for the measure, and deposit the ballot title with the {city elections officer} within the times set forth by law.²²

NOTICE OF BALLOT TITLE AND RIGHT TO APPEAL. Upon receiving the ballot title for this measure, the {city elections officer} shall publish in the next available edition of a newspaper of general circulation in the city a notice of receipt of the ballot title, including notice that an elector may file a petition for review of the ballot title.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT. The explanatory statement for the measure, which is attached hereto as "Exhibit 2," and incorporated herein by reference, is hereby approved.

FILING WITH COUNTY ELECTIONS OFFICE. The {city elections officer} shall deliver the Notice of Measure Election to the county clerk for {name of county} County for inclusion on the ballot for the {date} election.²³

EFFECTIVE DATE. This resolution is effective upon adoption.

BALLOT TITLE

A caption which reasonably identifies the subject of the measure 10 word limit under ORS 250.035(1)(a)

Imposes city tax on marijuana retailer's sale of marijuana items

²¹ Exhibit 1 should include the question and summary.

²² Alternatively, the council may prepare the ballot title and attach it to the resolution for approval. In that case, this section might say, "The ballot title for the measure set forth as Exhibit {number} to this resolution is hereby adopted." A city's local rules may dictate who will prepare the ballot title.

²³ The Notice of Measure Election is a form provided by the Oregon Secretary of State where cities provide the ballot title, question, summary, and explanatory statement. The form can be found on the Secretary of State's website at www.sos.oregon.gov.

QUESTION

A question which plainly phrases the chief purpose of the measure so that an affirmative response to the question corresponds to an affirmative vote on the measure 20 word limit under ORS 250.035(1)(b)

Shall City of {name} impose a {up to three percent} tax on the sale in the City of {city} of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer?

SUMMARY

A concise and impartial statement summarizing the measure and its major effect 175 word limit under $ORS\ 250.035(1)(c)$

Under state law, a city council may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the voters of the city imposing up to a three percent tax or fee on the sale of marijuana items in the city by a licensed marijuana retailer.

Approval of this measure would impose a {up to three} percent tax on the sale of marijuana items in the city by a licensed marijuana retailer. The tax would be collected at the point of sale and remitted by the marijuana retailer.

{Under state law, a city that adopts an ordinance that prohibits the establishment in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city of a medical marijuana processor, medical marijuana dispensary, or recreational marijuana producer, processor, wholesaler, or retailer may not impose a tax or fee on the production, processing or sale of marijuana or any product into which marijuana has been incorporated. This measure would become operative only if the measure proposing to prohibit the establishment of any of those marijuana entities does not pass by a majority of votes.}

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

An impartial, simple and understandable statement explaining the measure and its effect for use in the county voters' pamphlet

500 word limit under ORS 251.345 and OAR 165-022-0040(3)

Approval of this measure would impose a {up to three} percent tax on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer within the city. If approved, the revenues from this tax are estimated to be \$______. There are no restrictions on how the city may use the revenues generated by this tax. {However, this measure will become operative only if the ballot measure prohibiting the establishment of certain marijuana registrants and licensees fails.}

²⁴ Cities that desire to provide voters with the most options may wish to put both a measure banning certain activities and a tax measure before the voters at the same time. Cities that elect to do so should include this wording explaining the effect of the vote.

Under Measure 91, adopted by Oregon voters in November 2014 and amended by the Legislature in 2015, the Oregon Liquor Control Commission must license the retail sale of recreational marijuana. The 2015 Legislation provides that a city council may adopt an ordinance imposing up to a three percent tax on the sale of marijuana items (which include marijuana concentrates, extracts, edibles, and other products intended for human consumption and use) by retail licensees in the city, but the council must refer that ordinance to the voters at a statewide general election. The City of {name} city council has adopted an ordinance imposing a {up to three} percent tax on the sale of marijuana items by a retail licensee in the city, and, as a result, has referred this measure to the voters.

{However, this measure will become operative only if the ballot measure prohibiting the establishment of certain marijuana registrants and licensees fails. Under state law, a city that adopts an ordinance that prohibits the establishment in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city of a medical marijuana processor, medical marijuana dispensary, or recreational marijuana producer, processor, wholesaler, or retailer may not impose a tax or fee on the production, processing or sale of marijuana or any product into which marijuana has been incorporated. As a result, if the voters pass a prohibition ordinance, this tax measure will not become operative, even if it also receives a majority of votes.}

This document is not a substitute for legal advice. City councils considering prohibiting or taxing any marijuana facilities should not rely solely on this sample. Any city council considering any form of regulation of marijuana should consult with its city attorney regarding the advantages, disadvantages, risks and limitations of any given approach.

Legal counsel can also assist a city in preparing an ordinance that is consistent with local procedures, existing ordinances and a city's charter, and advise on what process is needed to adopt the ordinance.

The sample provided is intended to be a starting point, not an ending point, for any jurisdiction considering prohibiting or taxing marijuana.